

CHAPTER 547 (HB 996)

AN ACT relating to revenue and taxation and declaring an emergency.

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Kentucky:

SECTION 1. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 136 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *As used in this section, unless the context requires otherwise:***
 - (a) *"Approved company" means a company approved under Section 2 of this Act and subject to license tax under KRS 136.070;***
 - (b) *"Economic revitalization project" shall have the same meaning as set forth in Section 2 of this Act; and***
 - (c) *"Tax credit" means the tax credit allowed in subsection (1)(b)2. of Section 3 of this Act.***
- (2) *An approved company shall:***
 - (a) *Compute the company's total license tax due as provided by KRS 136.070; and***
 - (b) *Compute the license tax due excluding the capital attributable to an economic revitalization project.***
- (3) *The tax credit shall be the amount by which the tax computed under subsection (2)(a) of this section exceeds the tax computed under subsection (2)(b) of this section; however, the credit shall not exceed the limits set forth in Section 3 of this Act.***
- (4) *The capital attributable to an economic revitalization project shall be determined by a formula approved by the Revenue Cabinet.***
- (5) *The Revenue Cabinet may promulgate administrative regulations and require the filing of forms designed by the Revenue Cabinet to reflect the intent of KRS 154.26-010 to 154.26-100 and the allowable income tax credit which an approved company may retain under KRS 154.26-010 to 154.26-100.***

Section 2. KRS 154.26-010 is amended to read as follows:

As used in KRS 154.26-015 to 154.26-100, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

- (1) "Agreement" means a revitalization agreement entered into, pursuant to KRS 154.26-090, on behalf of the authority and an approved company with respect to an economic revitalization project;**
- (2) "Agribusiness" means any activity involving the processing of raw agricultural products, including timber, or the providing of value-added functions with regard to raw agricultural products;**
- (3) "Appropriation agreement" means an agreement entered into, pursuant to KRS 154.26-090(1)(d)2.b., among the approved company, the authority, and local governmental entities with respect to appropriations by these local governmental entities for the benefit of the approved company;**
- (4) "Approved company" means any eligible company approved by the authority pursuant to KRS 154.26-080 requiring an economic revitalization project;**

- (5) "Approved costs" means:
- (a) Obligations incurred for labor and to vendors, contractors, subcontractors, builders, suppliers, deliverymen, and materialmen in connection with the acquisition, construction, equipping, rehabilitation, and installation of an economic revitalization project;
 - (b) The cost of contract bonds and of insurance of all kinds that may be required or necessary during the course of acquisition, construction, equipping, rehabilitation, and installation of an economic revitalization project which is not paid by the vendor, supplier, deliveryman, contractor, or otherwise provided;
 - (c) All costs of architectural and engineering services, including estimates, plans and specifications, preliminary investigations, and supervision of construction, rehabilitation and installation, as well as for the performance of all the duties required by or consequent upon the acquisition, construction, equipping, rehabilitation, and installation of an economic revitalization project;
 - (d) All costs required to be paid under the terms of any contract for the acquisition, construction, equipping, rehabilitation, and installation of an economic revitalization project;
 - (e) All costs required for the installation of utilities, including, but not limited to, water, sewer, sewer treatment, gas, electricity, communications, and railroads, and including off-site construction of the facilities paid for by the approved company; and
 - (f) All other costs comparable with those described above;
- (6) "Assessment" means the job revitalization assessment fee authorized by KRS 154.26-100;
- (7) "Authority" means the Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority created by KRS 154.20-010;
- (8) "Commonwealth" means the Commonwealth of Kentucky;
- (9) "Economic revitalization project" or "project" means the acquisition, construction, equipping, and rehabilitation of machinery and equipment, constituting fixtures or otherwise, and with respect thereto, the construction, rehabilitation, and installation of improvements of facilities necessary or desirable for the acquisition, construction, installation, and rehabilitation of the machinery and equipment, including surveys; installation of utilities, including water, sewer, sewage treatment, gas, electricity, communications, and similar facilities; and off-site construction of utility extensions to the boundaries of the real estate on which the facilities are located, all of which are utilized to improve the economic situation of the approved company to allow the approved company to remain in operation and retain or create jobs;
- (10) "Eligible company" means any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, registered limited liability partnership, sole proprietorship, business trust, or any other entity employing or intending to employ full-time a minimum of twenty-five (25) persons engaged in manufacturing or agribusiness operations at the same facility, whether owned or leased, located and operating within the Commonwealth on a permanent basis for a reasonable period of time preceding the request for approval by the authority of an economic revitalization project, including facilities where manufacturing or agribusiness operations

has been temporarily suspended and which meets the standards promulgated by the authority pursuant to KRS 154.26-080;

- (11) "Final approval" means the action taken by the authority authorizing the eligible company to receive inducements under this subchapter;
- (12) "Inducements" means the Kentucky~~[-income]~~ tax credit and the job revitalization assessment fee as prescribed in KRS 154.26-090 and 154.26-100;
- (13) "Manufacturing" means any activity involving the manufacturing, processing, assembling, or production of any property, including the processing that results in a change in the condition of the property and any related activity or function, together with the storage, warehousing, distribution, and related office facilities;
- (14) "Preliminary approval" means the action taken by the authority conditioning final approval by the authority upon satisfaction by the eligible company of the requirements under this subchapter; and
- (15) "State agency" means any state administrative body, agency, department, or division as defined in KRS 42.010, or any board, commission, institution, or division exercising any function of the state which is not an independent municipal corporation or political subdivision.

Section 3. KRS 154.26-090 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) The authority, upon adoption of its final approval, may enter into, with any approved company, an agreement with respect to its project. The terms and provisions of each agreement, including the amount of approved costs, shall be determined by negotiations between the authority and the approved company, except that each agreement shall include the following provisions:
 - (a) The agreement shall set a date by which the approved company will have completed the project. Within three (3) months of the completion date, the approved company shall document the actual cost of the project in a manner acceptable to the authority. The authority may employ an independent consultant or utilize technical resources to verify the cost of the project. The approved company shall reimburse the authority for the cost of the consultant;
 - (b) In consideration of the execution of the agreement, the approved company may be permitted during the time not to exceed ten (10) years during which the agreement is in effect, which time shall commence on the date of the agreement for purposes of the inducements:
 - 1. A credit against the Kentucky income tax imposed by KRS 141.020 or 141.040 on the income of the approved company generated by or arising out of the economic revitalization project as determined under KRS 141.403;~~[-plus]~~
 - 2. ***A credit against the Kentucky license tax imposed by KRS 136.070 on the capital of the approved company generated by or arising out of the economic revitalization project as determined under Section 1 of this Act; plus***
 - 3. The aggregate assessment withheld by the approved company in each year;
 - (c) The~~[-income]~~ tax credit allowed to the approved company shall be equal to the lesser of the total amount of the tax liability or fifty percent (50%) of the approved cost that

has not yet been recovered, which fifty percent (50%) shall be reduced by any recovery through the collection of assessments and appropriations made under any appropriation agreement. The credit shall be allowed for each fiscal year of the approved company during the term of the agreement and for which a tax return of the approved company is filed until the entire fifty percent (50%) of the approved cost has been received through a combination of credits, assessments, if assessments are elected to be imposed, and appropriations made under any appropriation agreement. The approved company shall not be required to pay estimated income tax payments as prescribed under KRS 141.044 or 141.305 on income from the economic revitalization project. Ninety (90) days after the filing of the tax return of the approved company, the Revenue Cabinet of the Commonwealth shall certify to the authority for the preceding fiscal year of an approved company for which a return was filed with respect to an economic revitalization project of the approved company the state~~[-income]~~ tax liability of the approved company receiving inducements under KRS 154.26-015 to

154.26-100 and the amount of any tax credits taken pursuant to this section; (d)

The agreement shall provide that:

1. The term shall not be longer than the earlier of:
 - a. The date on which the approved company has received inducements or withholds assessments equal to fifty percent (50%) of the approved costs of its economic revitalization project; or
 - b. Ten (10) years from the date of the execution of the agreement.
2. Prior to execution of the agreement, the eligible company shall secure from all local governmental authorities responsible for collecting local occupational license fees one (1) of the following:
 - a. A resolution or order of the local governmental entities acknowledging and consenting to the termination or partial termination of the receipt of local occupational license fees paid by the approved company on behalf of its employees to the local government entities resulting from the execution of the agreement; or
 - b. In lieu of the credit against the local occupational license fee, an appropriation agreement with the authority and the local governmental entities by which the local governmental entities will appropriate funds in an amount equal to the amount of the credit of the local occupational license fee for the benefit of the approved company in a manner consistent with the applicable state laws.

If more than one (1) local occupational license fee is imposed upon the employees of the approved company, the assessment imposed upon the employees shall be credited against the local occupational license fee and shall be apportioned to each local occupational license fee according to each local occupational license fee's proportion to the total of all local occupational license fees for such employees. No credit, or portion thereof shall be allowed against any local occupational license fee imposed by or dedicated solely to a local board of education.

3. If in any fiscal year of the approved company during which the agreement is in effect the total of the income tax credit granted to the approved company plus the assessment collected from the wages of the employees exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the approved costs then expended, the approved company shall pay the excess to the Commonwealth as income tax.
 4. If in any fiscal year of the approved company during which the agreement is in effect the assessment collected from the wages of the employees exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the approved costs then expended, the assessment collected from the wages of the employees shall cease for the remainder of that fiscal year of the approved company, the approved company shall resume normal personal income tax and occupational license fee withholdings from the employees' wages for the remainder of that fiscal year, and the approved company shall remit to the Commonwealth and applicable local jurisdictions their respective shares of the excess assessment collected on the withholding filing date for employees' wages next succeeding the first date when the approved company collected excess assessments.
- (e) All proceeds of any loan or other financing incurred in connection with the economic revitalization project shall be expended by the approved company within five (5) years from the date of the revitalization agreement. In the event that all proceeds of any loan or other financing incurred in connection with the economic revitalization project are not fully expended within the five (5) year period, the authorized inducements shall automatically be reduced to and shall not be greater than the amount of proceeds actually expended by the approved company within the five (5) year period.
- (2) If the approved company elects to utilize the assessment as prescribed in KRS 154.26-100, a vote of the employees shall be taken by the approved company to approve or disapprove the withholding of the assessment. The vote shall be conducted in a manner approved by the authority.
 - (3) If the approved company elects to utilize the assessment, neither the appropriation agreement, if it is so used, nor the agreement shall be executed unless the assessment is approved by a majority of the employees voting. If the approved company elects not to utilize the assessment, no employee vote shall be required for the execution of the agreement.
 - (4) A majority vote of the employees of the approved company voting in favor of the assessment shall authorize the approved company to invoke the assessment on all employees of the approved company.
 - (5) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, no approved company shall assess the wages of an employee who is party to an individual employment contract with the approved company, or the wages of an employee whose wages will fall below applicable federal or state minimum wage standards if the job revitalization assessment fee is imposed.
 - (6) Neither the appropriation agreement nor the agreement shall be transferable or assignable by the approved company without the expressed written consent of the authority.

Section 4. KRS 154.26-100 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) The approved company may require that each employee subject to the income tax imposed by KRS 141.020, whose job was preserved or created as a result of the project, as a condition

of employment or the retention of employment, agree to pay an assessment, not to exceed, during any fiscal year of the approved company, six percent (6%) of the gross wages of each employee subject to the income tax imposed by KRS 141.020 whose job was retained or created as a result of the project. However, if the appropriation agreement is consummated, the assessment shall be five percent (5%) of each employee's gross wages subject to the income tax imposed by KRS 141.020.

- (2) Each assessed employee shall be entitled to a credit against his Kentucky income tax required to be withheld under KRS 141.310 equal to two-thirds (2/3) of the assessment; or if the appropriation agreement is consummated, the credit shall be equal to four-fifths (4/5) of the assessment.
- (3) Each assessed employee also shall be entitled to a credit against his local occupational license fee in the form of a simultaneous adjustment of his local occupational license fee withholding equal to one-sixth (1/6) of the assessment, unless the appropriation agreement is consummated.
- (4) If an approved company shall elect to impose the assessment as a condition of employment or the retention of employment, it shall deduct the assessment from each paycheck of each employee subject to subsections (2) and (3) of this section.
- (5) Any approved company collecting an assessment as provided in subsection (1) of this section shall make its payroll books and records available to the authority at such reasonable times as the authority shall request, and shall file with the authority the documentation respecting the assessment the authority may require.
- (6) Any assessment of the wages of the employees of an approved company pursuant to subsection (1) of this section shall permanently lapse upon expiration or termination of the agreement.
- (7) Ninety (90) days after the filing of the tax return of the approved company, the Revenue Cabinet shall certify to the authority the Kentucky~~income~~ tax liability for the preceding fiscal year of the approved company for which the return was filed of each approved company with respect to an economic development project financed through the issuance of bonds, loans, or other financing incurred in connection with the economic development project and the amounts of any tax credits and job revitalization assessment fees taken pursuant to KRS 154.26-010, 154.26-080, 154.26-090, and this section.

Section 5. KRS 139.050 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) "Gross receipts" means the total amount of the sale, lease, or rental price, as the case may be, of "retail sales," or "sales at retail," valued in money, whether received in money or otherwise, without any deduction on account of any of the following:
 - (a) The cost of the property sold. However, in accordance with rules and administrative regulations as the cabinet may prescribe, a deduction may be taken if the retailer has purchased property for some purpose other than resale, has reimbursed his vendor for tax which the vendor is required to pay to the state, or has paid the use tax with respect to the property, and has resold the property prior to making any use of the property other than retention, demonstration, or display while holding it for sale in the regular course of business. If a deduction is taken by the retailer, no refund or credit will be allowed to his vendor with respect to the sale of the property;

- (b) The cost of the materials used, labor or service cost, interest paid, losses, or any other expense;
 - (c) The cost of transportation of the property prior to its sale to the purchaser; **or**
 - (d) ***Any charge for bundled transactions, where goods and services are sold as a single package for one (1) price.***
- (2) The total amount of the sale or lease or rental price includes all of the following:
- (a) Any services that are a part of the sale;
 - (b) All receipts, cash, credits, and property of any kind;
 - (c) Any amount for which credit is allowed by the seller to the purchaser, other than credit for property traded when the property so traded is of like kind and character to the property purchased and the property traded is held for resale.
- (3) "Gross receipts" do not include any of the following:
- (a) Cash discounts allowed and taken on sales (provided that premium or trading stamps shall not be considered as cash discounts);
 - (b) Sale price of property returned by customers when the full sale price is refunded either in cash or credit; but this exclusion shall not apply in any instance when the customer, in order to obtain the refund, is required to purchase other property at a price greater than the amount charged for the property that is returned;
 - (c) The price received for labor or services used in installing or applying the property sold;
 - (d) The amount of any tax (not including, however, any manufacturer's excise or import duty) imposed by the United States upon or with respect to retail sales, whether imposed upon the retailer or the consumer;
 - (e) Sales of gasoline and special fuels subjected to tax under KRS Chapter 138;
 - (f) The sales price of any motor vehicle as defined by KRS 138.450 which is registered for use on the public highways and upon which any applicable tax levied under KRS 138.460 has been paid; or, the sales price of vehicles defined under KRS 189.010(12) and 189.010(17);
 - (g) Sales of distilled spirits, wine, and malt beverages not consumed on the premises licensed for their sale under the provisions of KRS Chapter 243;
 - (h) ***Amounts received for communications services utilized in providing a prepaid calling arrangement as defined in Section 7 of this Act.***
- (4) For purposes of the sales tax, if the retailer establishes to the satisfaction of the cabinet that the sales tax has been added to the total amount of the sale price and has not been absorbed by the retailer, the total amount of the sale price shall be deemed to be the amount received exclusive of the tax imposed.

Section 6. KRS 139.100 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) "Retail sale" or "sale at retail" means:
- (a) 1. A sale for any purpose other than resale in the regular course of business of tangible personal property, or

2. The furnishing of the facilities and services mentioned in subsection (2) of this section;
 - (b) The delivery in this state of tangible personal property by an owner or former owner thereof or by a factor, or agent of such owner, former owner or factor, if the delivery is to a consumer or person for redelivery to a consumer pursuant to a retail sale made by a retailer not engaged in business in this state. The person making the delivery shall include the retail selling price of the property in his gross receipts.
- (2) "Retail sale" or "sale at retail" shall include but shall not be limited to the following:
- (a) The rental of any room or rooms, lodgings, or accommodations furnished by any hotel, motel, inn, tourist camp, tourist cabin, or any other place in which rooms, lodgings, or accommodations are regularly furnished to transients for a consideration. The tax shall not apply, however, to rooms, lodgings, or accommodations supplied for a continuous period of thirty (30) days or more to an individual;
 - (b) The furnishing of sewer services~~[- and intrastate telephonic and telegraphic communications and services];~~
 - (c) The sale of admissions, except, those taxed under KRS 138.480;
 - (d) *The furnishing of communications services to a service address in this state, regardless of where those services are billed or paid, when the communications service:*
 1. *Originates and terminates in this state;*
 2. *Originates in this state; or*
 3. *Terminates in this state.*
- (3) *For the purposes of this chapter "communications service" means the provision, transmission, conveyance, or routing, for a consideration, of voice, data, video, or any other information or signals of the purchaser's choosing to a point, or between or among points, specified by the purchaser, by or through any electronic, radio, light, fiber optics, or any similar medium or method now in existence or later devised. Communications service includes, but is not limited to, local telephone services, long-distance telephone services, telegraph services, teletypewriter services, teleconferencing services, private line services involving a direct channel specifically dedicated to a customer's use between specific points, channel services involving a path of communications between two (2) or more points, data transport services involving the movement of encoded information between points by means of any electronic, radio, or other medium or method, caller ID services, voice mail and other electronic messaging services, mobile communications service, and Internet telephony involving telephone service in which messages originate or terminate over the public switched telephone network but are transmitted in part using transmission control protocol, Internet protocol, or other similar means. Communications service does not include any of the following if the charges for the goods or services are separately itemized on the bill provided to the purchaser:*
- (a) *Information services;*
 - (b) *Internet access;*

- (c) *Installation, reinstallation, or maintenance of wiring or equipment on a customer's premises. However, this provision does not apply to any charge attributable to the connection, movement, change, or termination of a communication service;*
 - (d) *The sale of directory and other advertising and listing services;*
 - (e) *The sale of one-way paging services;*
 - (f) *Billing and collection services provided to another communications service provider; or*
 - (g) *Cable service, satellite broadcast, satellite master antenna television, and wireless cable service, including direct to home satellite service as defined in Section 602 of the Federal Cable Act of 1996.*
- (4) *For the purposes of this chapter, "service address" means:*
- (a) *The location of communications equipment from which communications service is originated or at which communications service is received by the purchaser. In the event that this is not a defined location, as in the case of mobile phones, paging systems, maritime systems, air-to-ground systems, third number and calling card calls, service address means the location of the purchaser's primary use of the communications equipment, as determined by telephone number, authorization code, the purchaser's billing address, or other street address provided by the purchaser as the location of primary use, but the address must be within the licensed service area of the communications service provider;*
 - (b) *In the case of a communications service paid through a credit or payment mechanism that does not relate to a service address, such as a bank, travel, debit, or credit card, the service address is deemed to be the address of the origination of the communications service; and*
 - (c) *In the case of mobile communications service provided under intercarrier roaming agreements, the service address shall be deemed to be the physical location of the serving carrier's switch that originates or terminates the call.*

Section 7. KRS 139.160 is amended to read as follows:

"Tangible personal property" means personal property which may be seen, weighed, measured, felt or touched, or which is in any other manner perceptible to the senses and includes natural, artificial and mixed gas, electricity,~~[-and]~~ water, *and prepaid calling arrangements. For the purposes of this chapter, the term "prepaid calling arrangements" means any right to purchase communications service, which must be paid in advance and which enables the origination of calls using an access number or authorization code, whether manually or electronically dialed. Prepaid calling arrangement includes, but is not limited to, prepaid cards and prepaid accounts which are decremented as calls take place.*

SECTION 8. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 139 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *For the purpose of this section, "gross receipts" means:*
- (a) *Sales of tangible personal property in this state if:*

1. *The property is delivered or shipped to a purchaser, other than the United States government, or to the designee of the purchaser within this state regardless of the f.o.b. point or other conditions of the sale; or*
 2. *The property is shipped from an office, store, warehouse, factory, or other place of storage in this state and the purchaser is the United States government; and*
- (b) *Sales other than sales of tangible personal property in this state if the incomeproducing activity is performed in this state; or the income-producing activity is performed both in and outside this state and a greater proportion of the incomeproducing activity is performed in this state than in any other state, based on cost of performance, or gross receipt allocation method as provided by statute and elected by the taxpayer.*
- (2) *Any business whose communications service, subject to the sales tax imposed under KRS Chapter 139 and deducted for federal income tax purposes, exceeds five percent (5%) of the business's Kentucky gross receipts during the preceding calendar year is entitled to a refundable credit. The refundable credit shall be equal to the sales tax paid on the difference by which the communications service purchased by the business exceeds five percent (5%) of the business's Kentucky gross receipts.*
- (3) *Any business that qualifies for the refundable credit authorized by subsection (2) of this section shall make an annual application for the refund on or after June 1, 2002, and on or after every June 1 thereafter. The application shall be made to the cabinet on forms as the cabinet may prescribe and shall contain any information deemed necessary for the cabinet to determine the business's eligibility to receive a refund.*
- (4) *Notwithstanding the provisions of KRS 134.580 to the contrary, the cabinet, upon receipt of a properly documented refund application, shall cause a timely refund to be made directly to the business. Interest shall not be allowed or paid on any refund made under this section.*
- (5) *Any refund application submitted under this section is subject to examination by the cabinet. The examination shall occur within four (4) years from the date the refund application is received by the cabinet. Any overpayment resulting from the examination shall be repaid to the State Treasury. In addition, the amount required to be repaid is subject to the interest provisions of KRS 131.183 and to the penalty provisions of KRS 131.180.*
- (6) *If a business owns directly or indirectly fifty percent (50%) or more of another business, the credit computed under subsection (2) of this section shall be computed on a combined basis, excluding any intercompany Kentucky gross receipts.*

Section 9. KRS 139.510 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) The tax levied by KRS 139.310 shall not apply with respect to the storage, use or other consumption of tangible personal property in this state upon which a tax substantially identical to the tax levied under KRS 139.200 (not including any special excise taxes such as are imposed on alcoholic beverages, cigarettes and the like) equal to or greater than the amount of tax imposed by KRS 139.310 has been paid in another state. Proof of payment of such tax shall be according to rules and regulations of the cabinet. If the amount of tax paid in another state is not equal to or greater than the amount of tax imposed by KRS 139.310, then the taxpayer shall pay to the cabinet an amount sufficient to make the tax paid in the other state and in this state equal to the amount imposed by KRS 139.310. No credit shall be

given under this section for sales taxes paid in another state if that state does not grant credit for sales taxes paid in this state.

- (2) ***To prevent actual multistate taxation of a communications service subject to taxation under this chapter, any provider or purchaser, upon proof that the provider or purchaser has paid a tax in another state on the same communication services, shall be allowed a credit against the tax imposed by this chapter to the extent of the amount of the tax legally paid in the other state.***

Section 10. KRS 341.270 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in this section, each employer's contribution rate shall be three percent (3%). Effective for employers who become subject to this chapter on or after January 1, 1999, except as otherwise provided in this section, each employer's contribution rate shall be two and seven-tenths percent (2.7%).
- (2) Except as otherwise provided in this section, no subject employer's contribution rate shall be less than two and seven-tenths percent (2.7%), unless he has been an employer subject to the provisions of this chapter for twelve (12) consecutive calendar quarters ended as of the computation date. In any calendar year in which the rate schedule prescribed in paragraph (3)(a) of this section is in effect, no subject employer who was assigned an entry rate of three percent (3.0%) under the provisions of subsection (1) of this section prior to January 1, 1999, shall have a contribution rate less than two and eight hundred fifty-seven thousandths percent (2.857%), unless subject to this chapter for the minimum time period specified above.
- (3) For the calendar year ~~2001~~~~[1999]~~ and each calendar year thereafter, employer contribution rates shall be determined in accordance with "Table A" set out in subsection (4) of this section. For each calendar year, the secretary shall determine the rate schedule to be in effect based upon the "trust fund balance" as of December 31 of the preceding year. ~~If the~~~~[such]~~ "trust fund balance":
 - (a) Equals or exceeds one and eighteen hundredths percent (1.18%) of the total wages paid in covered employment in the state during the state fiscal year ended as of June 30 of that year, the rates listed in the "Trust Fund Adequacy Rates" schedule of "Table A" shall be in effect.
 - (b) Equals or exceeds three hundred fifty million dollars (\$350,000,000) but is less than the amount required to effectuate the "Trust Fund Adequacy Rates" schedule as provided in paragraph (a) of this subsection, the rates listed in "Schedule A" of "Table A" shall be in effect.
 - (c) Equals or exceeds two hundred seventy-five million dollars (\$275,000,000) but is less than three hundred fifty million dollars (\$350,000,000), the rates listed in "Schedule B" of "Table A" shall be in effect.
 - (d) Equals or exceeds two hundred fifty million dollars (\$250,000,000) but is less than two hundred seventy-five million dollars (\$275,000,000), the rates listed in "Schedule C" of "Table A" shall be in effect.
 - (e) Equals or exceeds one hundred fifty million dollars (\$150,000,000) but is less than two hundred fifty million dollars (\$250,000,000), the rates listed in "Schedule D" of "Table A" shall be in effect.

(f) Is less than one hundred fifty million dollars (\$150,000,000), the rates listed in "Schedule E" of "Table A" shall be in effect.

- (4) For the calendar year 1982 and each calendar year thereafter, contribution rates shall be determined upon the basis of an individual employer's reserve ratio as of the computation date and the schedule of rates established under subsection (3) of this section. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the contribution rate for each subject employer for the calendar year immediately following the computation date shall be the rate in that "Schedule" of "Table A," as set out below, effective with respect to ~~the~~^{such} calendar year, which appears on the same line as his reserve ratio as shown in the "Employer Reserve Ratio" column of the same table.

TABLE A

Rate Schedule

Employer Reserve Ratio	Trust Fund					
	Adequacy Rates	A	B	C	D	E
8.0% and over	0.000% ^{0.157%}	0.30%	0.40%	0.50%	0.60%	1.00%
7.0% but under 8.0%	0.000% ^{0.257%}	0.40%	0.50%	0.60%	0.80%	1.05%
6.0% but under 7.0%	0.008% ^{0.357%}	0.50%	0.60%	0.70%	0.90%	1.10%
5.0% but under 6.0%	0.208% ^{0.557%}	0.70%	0.80%	1.00%	1.20%	1.40%
4.6% but under 5.0%	0.508% ^{0.857%}	1.00%	1.20%	1.40%	1.60%	1.80%
4.2% but under 4.6%	0.808% ^{1.157%}	1.30%	1.50%	1.80%	2.10%	2.30%
3.9% but under 4.2%	1.008% ^{1.357%}	1.50%	1.70%	2.20%	2.40%	2.70%
3.6% but under 3.9%	1.308% ^{1.657%}	1.80%	1.80%	2.40%	2.60%	3.00%
3.2% but under 3.6%	1.508% ^{1.857%}	2.00%	2.10%	2.50%	2.70%	3.10%
2.7% but under 3.2%	1.608% ^{1.957%}	2.10%	2.30%	2.60%	2.80%	3.20%
2.0% but under 2.7%	1.708% ^{2.057%}	2.20%	2.50%	2.70%	2.90%	3.30%
1.3% but under 2.0%	1.808% ^{2.157%}	2.30%	2.60%	2.80%	3.00%	3.40%
0.0% but under 1.3%	1.908% ^{2.257%}	2.40%	2.70%	2.90%	3.10%	3.50%
-0.5% but under -0.0%	6.500%	6.50%	6.75%	7.00%	7.25%	7.50%
-1.0% but under -0.5%	6.750%	6.75%	7.00%	7.25%	7.50%	7.75%
-1.5% but under -1.0%	7.000%	7.00%	7.25%	7.50%	7.75%	8.00%
-2.0% but under -1.5%	7.250%	7.25%	7.50%	7.75%	8.00%	8.25%
-3.0% but under -2.0%	7.500%	7.50%	7.75%	8.00%	8.25%	8.50%
-4.0% but under -3.0%	7.750%	7.75%	8.00%	8.25%	8.50%	8.75%
-6.0% but under -4.0%	8.250%	8.25%	8.50%	8.75%	9.00%	9.25%
-8.0% but under -6.0%	8.500%	8.50%	8.75%	9.00%	9.25%	9.50%
Less than -8.0%.	9.000%	9.00%	9.25%	9.50%	9.75%	10.00%

- (5) As used in this section and elsewhere in this chapter, unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

(a) "Trust fund balance" means the amount of money in the unemployment insurance fund, less any unpaid advances made to the state under Section 1201 of the Social Security

Act. In determining the amount in the fund as of a given date all money received by the department *on that*~~as of such~~ date shall be considered as being in the fund on *that*~~such~~ date.

- (b) "Total wages" means all remuneration for services, as defined in KRS 341.030(1) to (7), paid by subject employers.
- (c) An employer's "reserve ratio" means the percentage ratio of his reserve account balance as of the computation date to his taxable payrolls for the twelve (12) consecutive calendar quarters ended as of September 30 immediately preceding the computation date.
- (d) For the purposes of this section, an employer's "reserve account balance" means the amount of contributions credited to his reserve account as of the computation date, less the benefit charges through September 30 immediately preceding the computation date. If benefits charged to an account exceed contributions credited to ~~the~~*such* account, ~~the~~*such* account shall be considered as having a debit balance and a reserve ratio of "less than zero."
- (e) "Computation date" is October 31 of each calendar year prior to the effective date of new rates of contributions.

Section 11. KRS 341.380 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) All benefits shall be paid through employment offices, or such other agencies as may be designated by regulations of the secretary. Claims for all payments of benefits shall be made in accordance with regulations of the secretary.
- (2) The weekly benefit rate payable to an eligible worker for weeks of unemployment shall, except as provided in KRS 341.390, be an amount equal to one and one hundred eighty-five one-thousandths percent (1.185%) of his total base-period wages, except that no worker's weekly benefit amount shall be less than thirty-nine dollars (\$39), nor more than the maximum rate as determined in accordance with subsection (3) of this section. For claims effective on or after January 1, ~~2001~~*1999*, the weekly benefit rate shall, except as provided in KRS 341.390, be *one and three thousand seventy-eight ten thousandths percent (1.3078%)*~~one and two hundred thirty-five thousandths percent (1.235%)~~ of his total baseperiod wages, except that no worker's weekly benefit amount shall be less than thirty-nine dollars (\$39) nor more than the maximum rate as determined in accordance with subsection (3) of this section~~;~~ ~~provided, however, that the tax rate schedule prescribed in KRS 341.270(3)(a) is in effect in that year. If that rate schedule is not in effect in calendar year 1999 but takes effect in a subsequent calendar year, the increase in the weekly benefit rate calculation shall apply to claims effective on or after January 1 of the year in which that rate schedule is in effect].~~
- (3) Prior to the first day of July of each year the secretary shall determine the average weekly wage for insured employment by dividing the average monthly employment, as obtained by dividing the total monthly employment reported by subject employers for the preceding calendar year by twelve (12), into the total wages reported by such employers for such calendar year and dividing by fifty-two (52). Fifty-five percent (55%) of the amount thus obtained, adjusted to the nearest multiple of one dollar (\$1), shall constitute the maximum weekly benefit rate for those workers whose benefit year commences on or after the first day of July of such year and prior to the first day of July of the next following year; beginning in calendar year 1999, or any subsequent year in which the increase in the weekly benefit rate

calculation set forth in subsection (2) of this section should take effect, sixty-two percent (62%) of the average weekly wage, adjusted to the nearest multiple of one dollar (\$1), shall constitute the maximum weekly benefit rate for those workers whose benefit year commences on or after the first day of July of that year and prior to the first day of July of the next following year; except that for the benefit years beginning on or after July 1, 1982, if the "trust fund balance" as of December 31 immediately preceding the benefit year is less than one hundred twenty million dollars (\$120,000,000), the maximum weekly benefit rate shall not exceed the prior year's maximum weekly benefit rate. If such "trust fund balance" as of December 31 immediately preceding the benefit year:

- (a) Equals or exceeds one hundred twenty million dollars (\$120,000,000), but is less than one hundred fifty million dollars (\$150,000,000), the maximum weekly benefit rate shall not exceed the prior year's maximum weekly benefit rate by more than six percent (6%). The rate thus determined shall be adjusted to the nearest multiple of one dollar (\$1);
 - (b) Equals or exceeds one hundred fifty million dollars (\$150,000,000), but is less than two hundred fifty million dollars (\$250,000,000), the maximum weekly benefit rate shall not exceed the prior year's maximum weekly benefit rate by more than eight percent (8%). The rate thus determined shall be adjusted to the nearest multiple of one dollar (\$1);
 - (c) Equals or exceeds two hundred fifty million dollars (\$250,000,000), but is less than two hundred seventy-five million dollars (\$275,000,000), the maximum weekly benefit rate shall not exceed the prior year's maximum weekly benefit rate by more than ten percent (10%). The rate thus determined shall be adjusted to the nearest multiple of one dollar (\$1);
 - (d) Equals or exceeds two hundred seventy-five million dollars (\$275,000,000), but is less than three hundred fifty million dollars (\$350,000,000), the maximum weekly benefit rate shall not exceed the prior year's maximum weekly benefit rate by more than twelve percent (12%). The rate thus determined shall be adjusted to the nearest multiple of one dollar (\$1); and
 - (e) Is such that it resulted in the establishment of an employer contribution rate schedule, as provided for in KRS 341.270, for the current calendar year which has a higher minimum rate than the schedule in effect for the immediately preceding calendar year, the maximum weekly benefit rate shall not exceed the prior year's maximum weekly benefit rate.
- (4) The maximum amount of benefits payable to any worker within any benefit year shall be the amount equal to whichever is the lesser of:
- (a) Twenty-six (26) times his weekly benefit rate; or
 - (b) One-third (1/3) of his base-period wages, except that no worker's maximum amount shall be less than fifteen (15) times his weekly benefit rate. Such maximum amount, if not a multiple of one dollar (\$1), shall be adjusted to the nearest multiple of one dollar (\$1).

Section 12. KRS 341.510 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) Except as provided in subsection (2) of this section and except ~~the~~^{such} money as has been credited to the account of this state in the unemployment trust fund under the provisions of Section 903 of the Social Security Act as amended, and appropriated by legislative action

authorized thereunder for administrative expenses, money shall be requisitioned from the state's account in the unemployment trust fund solely for the payment of benefits and in accordance with regulations prescribed by the secretary. The secretary, through the State Treasurer acting as his fiscal agent, shall from time to time requisition from the unemployment trust fund ~~the[such]~~ amounts not exceeding the amounts standing to this state's accounts therein, as he considers necessary for the payment of benefits for a reasonable future period.

- (2) The Governor may, at any time, pursuant to Section 1202 of the Social Security Act, request that funds be transferred from this state's account in the unemployment trust fund for repayment of part or all of that balance of advances made to the state under Section 1201 of the Social Security Act.
- (3) Upon receipt thereof the Treasurer shall deposit ~~the[such]~~ money in the benefit account and shall issue his vouchers for the payment of benefits solely from ~~the[such]~~ benefit account. Expenditures of ~~the[such]~~ money in the benefit account shall not be subject to any provisions of law requiring specific appropriations or other formal release by state officers of money in their custody. All vouchers issued by the Treasurer for the payment of benefits and refunds shall bear the signature of the Treasurer and the approval in writing of the secretary of the Finance and Administration Cabinet.
- (4) Any balance of money requisitioned from the unemployment trust fund that remains unclaimed or unpaid in the benefit account after the expiration of the period for which ~~the[such]~~ sums were requisitioned shall either be deducted from estimates for, and may be utilized for the payment of benefits during succeeding periods, or, in the discretion of the secretary, shall be redeposited with the secretary of the federal Treasury to the credit of this state's account in the unemployment trust fund, as provided in KRS 341.500.
- (5) ***Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (1) of this section to the contrary, money credited to the state under Section 903 of the Social Security Act, as amended with respect to federal fiscal years 1999, 2000, and 2001, shall be used solely for the administration of the unemployment insurance program and not subject to appropriation by the General Assembly.***

Section 13. Sections 1 to 4 of this Act shall apply for taxable years beginning on or after December 31, 1999.

Section 14. Sections 5 to 9 of this Act shall be effective January 1, 2001.

Approved April 26, 2000